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The second volume of a projected multivolume political biography of Lincoln, Wrestling with His Angel treats what Sidney Blumenthal aptly calls “the low ebb of his political career,” (474) the seven years between Lincoln’s undistinguished term in the U. S. Congress and his emergence as a leader of the antislavery Republican Party in Illinois. 
Given the paucity of Lincoln’s political activities during these years, it is understandable that Blumenthal, whose concentration is on political history, devotes about three-quarters of this volume to matters other than Lincoln, including the Compromise of 1850, the presidency of Franklin Pierce, the influence of the slave power on politics, and the rise of Lincoln’s nemesis, Senator Stephen A. Douglas.  Readers hoping to see the promise of the book’s title and subtitle fulfilled have to wait for more than three hundred pages, for it’s not until the last third of the book that we get sustained discussion of Lincoln’s confrontation with slavery and his resumption of political life.  Before 1854, Lincoln was, in Blumenthal’s rendering, ”mired in his own bog,…without any visible prospects as far as his horse Bob would take him” 474.  Lincoln took biannual treks around the long Eighth Judicial Circuit in Illinois, where, as a lawyer, he tried cases in numerous towns and villages.  We don’t hear much about these trips or law cases in Wrestling with His Angel, as Blumenthal minimizes Lincoln’s law practice and merges it with his politics; the idea is that Lincoln’s argumentative courtroom style fed into his lawyerly dismantling of the proslavery arguments advanced by northern Democrats and Southern apologists.
Before getting to Lincoln’s struggle against slavery, Blumenthal covers a long stretch of political history.  Reading this history is like watching a train wreck in slow motion.    The wreck involves the two national parties, the Democrats and the Whigs, then dominant in America.   Between 1850 and 1856, the Democratic Party split and the Whig Party dissolved over the slavery issue, with Southerners flocking to proslavery politics while Northerners drifted first to the nativist Know Nothing Party and then to a fusion of groups that became the Republican Party, devoted to preventing the westward spread of slavery.  
This collapse of the Second American Party System is a familiar topic, but rarely has its story been told in such lively detail as Blumenthal does here.  Blumenthal has an astonishing grasp of the political maneuvering, backstabbing, and deal-making of the political scene of the early 1850s.   He shows, among other things, how the opportunistic Stephen Douglas tried to parlay his program of popular sovereignty (the notion that slavery could spread anywhere, so long as it was locally approved) into political capital and financial gain.  Among the other morally compromised figures Blumenthal describes are Franklin Pierce, the charming but weak-willed New Hampshirite who used his presidential office to bolster a proslavery agenda; the Mississippian Jefferson Davis, who in his position as Pierce’s secretary of war pushed that agenda at every turn; the Tennessee-born sterer William Walker, who invaded Nicaragua and assumed temporary control of the country; and Pierre Soulé of New Orleans, who as the U. S. minister to Spain helped write rifuthe Ostend Manifesto, which called for the annexation of Cuba as a southern slave state. 
The common denominator of all this scheming was the South’s effort to take over new territory for slavery.  Jefferson Davis, as Blumenthal notes, aimed for nothing less than the establishment of a Caribbean empire controlled by the South and inhabited by slaveholders.  As more and more southerners jumped on the expansionist bandwagon, Stephen Douglas did his part as a dough-faced northerner to clear the way for them.   He promoted his pet scheme, popular sovereignty, as a patriotic concept that allegedly honored the spirit of the founding fathers: What was more American, Douglas asked, than self-determination, the freedom to choose?  
It was Douglas’s twisted version of freedom that roused Lincoln from his political lethargy.  In 1854, the year that Douglass’s Kansas Nebraska Bill opened up the western territories for slavery, Lincoln began speaking out against the extension of slavery.  Douglas’s notion of freedom, Lincoln pointed out, did not match that of the founders, who envisaged the eventual extinction of slavery and prized human equality.   The only way that slavery extension made sense was if you accepted the South’s spurious notion that slaves were not human beings but instead were like any other property—cattle, horses, hogs, and so on—that one could take anywhere.  The latter view was in that era confirmed by ethnographic science, which identified blacks as inferior to whites or even a separate species, by religion, which said that slavery was Biblically ordained, and by the economy, which saw a rise in the value of slave labor as the South’s cotton industry prospered.  The most ardent critics of such reasoning, the abolitioinists, brought attention to the humanity of blacks and the injustice of slavery, but their views were in the distinct minority, and they were castigated as marginal fanatics.   Lincoln, as a rising politician, had to shuttle carefully between the opposing sides.  If he edged too close to abolitionism, he risked sacrificing his political career because of his identification with a highly unpopular cause.  If, on the other hand, he was too soft on slavery, he could seem overly conservative to the growing body of antislavery politicians in the North. As a result, he took a middle course, condoning the conservative Fugitive Slave Act and the noninterference with slavery where it already existed while coming out morally against slavery.    Although Lincoln’s middling position alienated extremists on both sides of the slavery divide, it positioned him well to emerge as an moderate force amidst the surrounding political chaos.
	Blumenthal’s book could have profited from some cutting and greater focus. The devoted reader will learn much from following every twist and turn of Blumenthal’s political narrative. Both national and local politics are superbly covered by the book, which, with its comprehensiveness, provides a solid background for what will come later in Lincoln’s life. But it is precisely Lincoln’s life that gets short shrift in this volume. To write a multivolume biography of Lincoln is a good idea, and it has been done successfully before, as exemplified by Abraham Lincoln: a history, a 10 volume effort by John Nikolay and John hay, or Herndon’s Lincoln, a three-volume life by William H Herndon and Jesse Weik. However, there have been such readable, informative one-volume Lincoln studies by David Herbert Donald, Eric Foner, Alan Guelzo, Doris Kearns Goodwin, and others that readers are likely to turn to a multivolume life only if that life remains at the center of the biographer’s attention. It seems to me that Blumenthal could have attained a good balance of political background and Lincoln’s biography had he devoted this second volume to the years 1852 1860, which would’ve carried Lincoln from his Congressional days to the outbreak of the Civil War. This format would have allowed him to concisely cover the politics of the 1850s while never losing sight of the narrative of Lincoln’s life. 
But those with an interest in political history will not be disappointed with this book, which contains many parallels to today. One sees an early sketch of Donald Trump in the bumptious, hyper-nationalist Stephen Douglas, whose promoter and sidekick George Nicholas Sanders, adept in character assassination and behind-the-scenes maneuvering, presages Steve Bannon.  Sanctuary cities?  That era had them too, such as Boston, where runaway slaves were shielded by abolitionists from Southerners who came north to recover their chattels under the Fugitive Slave Act of 1850.  As now, immigrants were widely held under suspicion—not Muslims, but Catholics, who flooded to America’s shores in such great numbers that nativist paranoia reached new heights.  Then, too, the unraveling of the political parties as result of deep social divisions has a familiar ring.




Lincoln rehearsed the history of the Northwest ordinance prohibiting slavery and then how the Louisiana purchase precipitated a crisis over its limits. He quoted Jefferson’s prophecy of slavery being “like a fire Bell in the night” and, while he conceded that Clay owned and sold slaves, he said that when his slaves ran away he never sought their capture. Instead of sending slave catchers and hounds after the fugitives, he offered them money for their transportation home if they wish to return. True, Clay considered plaques and fear , incapable of taking care of themselves a freak. He recommended colonization, but then so did most abolitionists. Also, some Blacks did to. Discussing colonization 





BAR: cultural biography:
“To understand Lincoln more fully, the historian needs to attempt understanding his times nearly as closely as he did” SB 1 For Blumenthal, who deals with AL the politician, understanding L’s times means exploring the political scene as completely as possible, even at the expense of going on for many chapters without even mentioning Lincoln.
Zachary Taylor:
-utterly lacking in polit experience, this slaveholding president was surprisingly adamant in his opposition to the extension of slavery. Taylor was determined to halt slavery’s expansion by any means necessary, including military force. Within months of his taking office, the country appeared to be on the knife’s edge of the Civil War. SB 42 Few had suspected that this Louisiana slave owner would have ideas of his own, much less radical ones. Andrew Jackson during the nullification crisis of 1830s to had said, “To say that any State may at pleasure secede from the Union is to say that the United States are not a nation.” SB 80. Taylor felt the same way. He regarded the Texas seizure of New Mexico as nullification, a rebellion against the United States and those engaged in it as traitors. He treated it not as an ordinary difference in politics but as an insurrection that would require the full military force of the United States states to suppress it. SB 80 [ME: Both Jackson and Taylor, then, anticipated Lincoln’s response to secession in 1861.] Taylor died of cholera after eating raw food at a July 4 1850 celebration.
Millard Fillmore:
He had made an incredible rise from log cabin to White House, from illiterate boy who married his teacher, rising from the depths of poverty, Fillmore was a politically made man. In politics he was a vessel steered by others, not propelled by great talent, skill, or intellect. He spent his entire life as a party regular, and a secondary character. He owed his political career to the designs of others. SB 84 as vice president, presiding over the Senate, he was a dignified and suave but in your presence. It was bland, amiable, benevolent old gentleman. His vanity exceeded his mediocrity. SB 84 
Franklin Pierce:
“A well-mannered Northern man of Southern sympathies,” he “turned to brandy for solace and Jefferson Davis for guidance” SB 3. Temp! Pierce had no enemies, bore no grudges, and his only strong feeling was hostility to abolitionists. He was a wellborn heir, handsome young. He was the epitome of the young fogie. He was the darling of the old guard faction, elected to the legislature 24 and promptly made speaker of the house while his father was the sitting governor. He was promoted to the US Senate, again the youngest. He had married the most proper and elevated woman within his range. Jane Appleton was the daughter of the president of Bowdoin College. Jane was frail, nervous, and censorious of politicians and political life. Pierce was an alcoholic who repeatedly broke his vows of temperance to his unforgiving wife. He was suave, well-educated. His father was rough, crude. His mother, Anna was fond of whiskey and engaged in fantastic capers. Pierce was torn between gentility and vulgarity, aspiration and alcoholism. SB 181 Pierce was weak, imaginative, almost brilliant, undetermined. He had no fixed will of his own. He exhibited the same vacillation to all. SB 182 he aroused enthusiasm as the young Hickory of the Granite Hills. Tragedy struck when they are eight-year-old son Benny was killed in a train accident, after they had already lost two other sons to illness. They were to have no more children. SB 233 Pierce began to drink again. He became vacillating, complacent, and passive to the point of near paralysis. SB 232 Franklin and Jane Pierce turned to Jefferson and Marina Davis. Pierce wanted to be the president of young America. He said that “the policy of my administration will not be controlled by any timid foreboding of evil from expansion. And, “I believe that involuntary servitude, as it exists in different states of this Confederacy, is recognized by the Constitution and, “it stands like any other admitted right,” and “the rights of the South” must be “respected and obeyed.” It should be obeyed “cheerfully,” he said. When blamed with having been an abolitionist, he said, “I am not and have never been an abolitionist. SB 235 Davis envisaged the southern Empire to include Cuba, the Mexican province of Yucatán, Panama, and more under the US flag is safe territories for slavery, becoming states with two senators apiece, tipping the scales in the balance for the South. “Cuba must be ours” to “increase the numbers of slaveholding constituencies,” he declared. SB 235  He sought to build a transcontinental railroad through a southern route from the Mississippi River to the Pacific that would bind the West to the south – and to slavery. Davis was in every way the agent of his mentor and profit, John C Calhoun. He disliked the compromise of 1850 and was determined to overthrow the compromise of 1820 in 1848, Sen. Davis introduced an amendment that would open the Oregon territory slavery by prohibiting the application of the ordinance of 1787. Under Pierce, he became the virtual acting president. SB 236
Racism:
S Douglas’s paper the anti-AL Illinois State Register assaulted the upcoming Repub Party in racist terms: “Niggerdon is preparing for a new onslaught,” as local people must pledage against “all alliances with niggerdom,” praising Old Whigs who resisted “the fusion with niggerdon” in SB  4. Douglas often used the word Nigbor. So much so that William Henry Seward declared, “Douglas, no one who spells Negro with ‘g’s will ever be elected President of the United States.” SB 306  Douglas said that the opponents of the Kansas Nebraska act were “pure, unadulterated representatives of Abolitionism, freesoilism, Niggerism in the Congress of the United States.” SB 362
	-even the ardent abolist Cash Clay considered blacks inferior – he said “God has made them for the sun and the banana!” in SB 31.
Declaration:
The Libersty Party, Salmon Chase and others had made it integral to the Constotition.
Mary Todd Lincoln:
-her father, Robert S. Todd, had been a friend of Clay, a pillar of the community, prosperous if somewhat neglectful of his daughter, a colonizationst who looked to the peaceful extinction of slavery, gradual emancipation, he died of cholera in 1849 (?). Todd had sued Robt Wickliffe, claiming he had taken the property of Todd’s cousin, Mary “Polly” Owen Todd Russeell after she became Todd’s second wife SB 32  When her dad had died in 1783, she had become the heir of his estate and the wealthiest woman in Ky. Before her marriage, Robrt Todd managed her estate. Todd claimed Wickliffre had coerced Poluy to hand over her estate to him. She wanted to free tgwo slaves and pay form them to go to Liberia, but Wickliffe preventd this. Lincoln worked as co-counsel for Todd, but the court ruled for Wickliffe in May 1850 SB 37 The case dragged on in appeals until 1859, which agains the court ruled for Wickliffe, who left the estate to his daughter SB 37   AL brooded for years about the loss of the Todd estate to the proslavery side in the case of Todd Heirs.
---SB takes a more positive view of Mary do most. He says that she had panic attacks, migraine headaches, and temper tantrums. She was terrified of storms and of the rumble of thunder. She feared that her eldest child Robert would run away and be killed and was afraid of being murdered in her home. She was abusive to her household help. Over anxious and worried about the boys, she was, said her cousin Elizabeth Todd Grimsley, “a very nervous, hysterical woman who was incessantly alarming the neighborhood with her outcries.” A neighbor described Lincoln is henpecked. And the victim of her lacerating tongue and once her broomstick. Of her fits, the townsmen quoted him saying, “It does her lots of good and it doesn’t hurt me a bit.”   SB 131 And yet she conducted her household management up to the standards of middle-class respectability set by Eliza Leslie’s the house and Godey’s ladies Book. Jean H Baker writes, “she offers to history a model example of committed motherhood.” She did it all as virtually a single mother, aa “circuit widow,” as another of her biographers, Ruth painter Randall, called Lincoln was practicing on the circuit more than one third of the year, leaving her to manage alone.
-Abolism: Cassius Clay, Henry Clay’s second cousin. was a close childhood friend of Mary SB 13 –He married Mary Jane Warfield, one of the best friends of the Todd sisters SB 13. He called slaver “an evil—an evil morally, economically, physically, intellectually, socially, religiously, politically…an unmixed evi” in S 13.   Burly and outspoken, Clay engaged in a duel and another time took out his bowie knife, slahed off an opponent’s ear, gouged an eye, and cut his head to the skull (the man survived) SB 15. On Jan 1, 1844 Cash Clay emancipated his slaves SB 16  In a later fight, he was stabbed deeply by Cyrus Turner’s men; Turner held a gun to his hea and pulled the trigger three times but it failed to fire, at which Cash slashed him in the stomach with his bowie kmife, and he died later  SB 25.  Cash Clay ran a newspaper, the True American, which was attacked as an abol sheet. Cash wanted to start an antislavery party but supported Zach Taylor instead.   Cash Clay was truly the comb of the Calvalier and the puritan, for he considered himself a Southern aristocratic gentleman—and he had several duels of honor to prove it—and yet he was strongly antislavery, came north to lecture vs. slavery,  and sought nomination as the Republican candidate for president in 1856; AL wld appoint him minister to Russia   SB 37  Feisty, explosive, with no peaceful Quaker side: as SB writes, “The duelist could not become a politician” SB 37.
	Henry Clay:
-in lates 40s he called for gradual emancipation,  colonization of all free blacks to Africa, and freedom to all born after 1855 or 1860 SB 24.
•	Clay had been a master of the Congress since he had entered it in 1811, elected speaker of the house on his first day, but his final act (the Omnibus Bill) collapsed from its grandiosity. This faulty strategy required a more adroit political tactician in Douglas to divide this monumental bill into pieces and to pass them one by one. Only then were the results of the election of 1848 overturned and Taylor buried politically. But by then Clay had departed from the stage. Clay set in motion the destruction of his greatest legacy – the Whig party. He had forged it as a national party, the party of union, transcending sectional antagonism, neither proslavery nor anti-slavery, but of economic development, and the American system. By calming the South through the compromise of 1850, Clay smoothed the internal conflicts of Democratic Party and heightened the frictions among the Whigs. The fugitive slave act was left as the chief organizing tool of abolitionists, tearing the Whigs apart and propelling its northern and southern wings to fly in opposite directions. Clay’s compromise made it politically untenable for Southern Whigs to remain Whigs. The Democrats by contrast now appeared the party of national unity, constitutional virtue, peace, and progress. Clay’s compromise of 1850 contradicted his compromise of 1820. SB 103.
Political machines:
Thurlow weed and William Henry Seward in New York were known as the firm, controlled by the wizard of the lobby or the dictator. The firm helped to nominate each of the whig presidential candidates: William Henry Harrison in 1840, Henry Clay in 1844, and Zachary Taylor in 1848 SB 45
Newspapers:
AL was defacto coeditor of the Sangamo Journal and anonymously wrote many of its editorials SB 17.
•	Chase was secretly funding the Cincinnati globe out of his own bank account. SB 43.
Compromise of 1850:
Clay’s version: California would be admitted as a free state. New Mexico and Utah, where slavery did not exist would become territories, and whether there were slave or free states would be decided under the doctrine of popular sovereignty. The federal government would assume the dead of Texas, left from its days as a Republic, and in exchange its western border would be fixed so that would not, as it insisted, annex most of New Mexico, therefore thereby putting it under slavery. Slavery in the District of Columbia would be protected. And the federal government would assume the task of capturing fugitive slaves, given that many North northern state governments no longer would do so. Webster was persuaded by Clay’s version. Clay said that compromise was necessary to avoid the “dissolution of the union and war,” and warned that “exterminating wars would follow – not a war of two or three years, but of interminable duration.” SB  59 a compromiser, Clay placed himself between the irrational forces of radical North and radical South. Zachary Taylor was furious. He would admit the whole of the territories gained as free states – and nothing less. SB 60. Taylor about to hang Jefferson Davis. Clay sounded like Walt Whitman or Abe Lincoln when he said, “I know no South – no North – no East – no West, to which I owe any allegiance. My allegiance is to this Union and to my state.” Union quote!! His statement “I know no North – no South – no East – no West” would be engraved on his tombstone. SB 62 [ME: this directly anticipates not only Whitman, with his lines about “The North and the South are mine, the East and the West are mine” but also AL, who never allowed the ideal of Union out of his mind).
--Union above sections:
-Clay sounded like Walt Whitman or Abe Lincoln when he said in 1850 while proposing his compromise, “I know no South – no North – no East – no West, to which I owe any allegiance. My allegiance is to this Union and to my state.” Union quote!! His statement “I know no North – no South – no East – no West” would be engraved on his tombstone. SB 62 [ME: this directly anticipates not only Whitman, with his lines about “The North and the South are mine, the East and the West are mine” but also AL, who never allowed the ideal of Union out of his mind).
-Webster in his March 7 speech likewise denounced sections in the name of Union: “I wish to speak today, not as a Massachusetts man, nor as a Northern man, but as an American, and a member of the Senate of the United States… I speak today for the preservation of the Union.” SB 65. And S Douglas paraphrased Webster in a speech in which he said, , “I have not brought this question forward as northern men or as a southern man… I have brought it forward as an American Senator.” SB 310
On a speaking tour Webster wondered whether the union could be held together “not by military power, but by the silken chords of mutual, fraternal, patriotic affection,” these cords were the metaphor introduced by Calhoun that would be frayed if southern demands were unmet. Of his party, Webster said, “If a house be divided against itself, it will fall, and crush everybody in it.” Webster’s “silken chords…of affection,” originally Calhoun’s, would be transmuted into “the mystic chords of memory” of Lincoln’s first inaugural address, edited by Seward, and Lincoln would raise the theme of the house divided after the wake party had shattered, leaving only the start question of slavery-Webster  SB 113.
June 1849 AL Blondin in the Center, between East, West, South, North, as he wrote Z Taylor 6/1849:
It will be argued that all the Illinois appointments, so far, have been South, and that therefore this should go North. I answer, that of the local appointments every part has had its share, and Chicago far the best share of any. Of the transitory, the Marshall and Attorney are all; and neither of these is within a hundred miles of me, the former being South and the latter North of West. I am in the center. Is the center nothing?---that center which alone has ever given you a Whig representative? On the score of locality, I admit the claim of the North is no worse, and I deny that it is any better than that of the center. CW 2:54
--in the AL- SD debates, SD tried to present AL as a sectional man, and himself as embracing all sections, as in:

My principles are the same everywhere. (Cheers, and ``hark.'') I can proclaim them alike in the North, the South, the East, and the West. My principles will apply wherever the Constitution prevails and the American flag waves. (``Good,'' and applause.) I desire to know whether Mr. Lincoln's principles will bear transplanting from Ottawa to Jonesboro?   CW 3: 5.
-in another debate, SD asks, “What object have these Black Republicans in changing their name in every county? (To cheat people.) They have one name in the North, another in the centre, and another in the South… I would like to know why it is that this great free soil abolition party is not willing to avow the same name in all parts of the State? (They dare not.) If this party believes that its course is just, why does it not avow the same principle in the North, and in the South, in the East and in the West, wherever the American flag waves over American soil. (Cheers.) CW 3: 175-6
-AL tried to unify sections on the eve of the Civil War in his remarks at the Asotr House in NY 2/191861:
I said several times upon this journey, and I now repeat it to you, that when the time does come I shall then take the ground that I think is right---(interruption by cries of ``Good,'' ``good,'' and applause)---the ground I think is right for the North, for the South, for the East, for the West, for the whole country---(cries of ``Good,'' ``Hurrah for Lincoln,'' and great applause). CW 4:231
· AL unifies sections again in remarks to greeters in phil on 2/21/61:
I shall endeavor to take the ground I deem most just to the North, the East, the West, the South, and the whole country. I take it, I hope, in good temper---certainly no malice toward any section. I shall do all that may be in my power to promote a peaceful settlement of all our difficulties. The man does not live who is more devoted to peace than I am. [Cheers.] CW 4:237

	-House Divided presaged 4 years earlier when Seward proposed that the country wld become “all one thing, or all the other” in SB 318.
	
Birth of Republican party:
	The first meeting for the creation of a new party to be called “Republican” was held in a small Congregationalist church in Ripon, Wisc on Feb 28 1854. There was passed a resolution to “throw old party organizations to the winds, and organize a new pparty on the sole issue of the non-extension of slavery” SB 323.

Stephen A. Douglass and his allies:
-James Shields, a US Senator from Ill., was a close ally of SD
•	in 1850, at 37 years old, only in his first term, Sen. Douglas was so respected after four years in the house that he was at once granted chairmanship of the powerful Senate committee on territories. His tactical instincts were finely tuned, his stamina boundless, and his socializing round-the-clock. His consumption of whiskey morning, noon, and late-night only enhanced his standing as one of the most convivial members. Temp!  The little giant with the leonine mane regularly startled his fellow politicians by jumping into their laps and clapping them on the back. He was described as magnetic, his rise was so many meteoric that he seemed an unstoppable force of nature. He was above all a speculator. His career was a series of risks and gambles. It made him a fortune. The compromise was stalled because of Clay’s omnibus bill, because if you didn’t like one part of it, you might not want to vote for all of it.  Douglas got the bill passed by dividing it into separate units, each one of which was passed. He was largely concerned with the Illinois Central Railroad which occupied the geographically strategic position between the North and West – and from north to south on the Mississippi River. On the first day of the Senate session, January 3, 1850, Douglas introduced his bill for the construction of the Illinois Central Railroad. The railroad would originate in Chicago, where Douglas had moved in 1847. He had bought large tracts of land along the Illinois and Michigan Canal, opened in 1848, a sluiceway of commerce to Chicago. As he laid the groundwork for the Illinois central, he strategically purchased large tracts of real estate whose value would skyrocket with the building of the railroad. Meanwhile he acquired thousands of acres on the west side of Chicago, as well as along the Chicago River and near Lake Calumet. SB 93 Douglas rewrote the bill so that 7% of the railroad’s income would be paid to the state of Illinois. 20 days after the passage of the compromise, on September 17, the Illinois Central Railroad tax act handily passed in the house. Three days later easily passed in the Senate. SB 101 Douglas forged the modern railroad corporation and revolutionized the industrial economy. SB 167
 Douglas, once rejected by Mary Todd is a suitor, had at last found his lovely Southern Bell and Martha Martin, who’d been educated at finishing schools and spoke French. Her father, Col. Robert Martin, owned an 800 acre plantation on the Dan River, just across the border from Danville Virginia, and a large cotton plantation of 2500 acres worked by 150 slaves on the Pearl River near Philadelphia, Mississippi. On their wedding day in 1847, Col. Martin presented the Mississippi plantation is a gift to the couple. Douglas served as property manager for which he received 20% of its annual income. This artful arrangement allowed Douglas to have it both ways, legally not to be a slave owner yet to profit from slavery. The little giant stood on a pedestal of the cotton Kingdom – and above it. Douglas never uttered an antislavery sentiment in his life. He took no moral stand whatsoever. He would routinely rail against black equality, accuse opponents of favoring it, and beat them with the word “nigger.” His hatred of abolitionists was total. “I have no sympathy for abolitionism on the one side, or that extreme course on the other which is akin to abolition,” he said. He embraced Cass’s squatter sovereignty doctrine of non-intervention in the extension of slavery, which was the core of his political ideology. SB 95    Douglas could never explain why popular sovereignty ruled out secession if the states were the creators of the federal union, then they retained the authority to secede. But if the federal union was a compact that created the states, then popular sovereignty itself was trumped. Nor could Douglas ever define just to the people were under popular sovereignty. That was to be decided by the circular logic that people would determine who they were. Every argument Douglas made could be reduced to its self-serving political essence. It was all expedience. SB 96 his record was diametrically opposed to that of Lincolns. He fought the Wilmot proviso at every turn.
-Young America:
Douglas rode in as the Lochnivar bar of the Young Democracy, the leader of Young America, the generational movement proclaimed by the Democratic Review as the vanguard of manifest destiny. SB 118 Young America took its name from the revolutionary European movements – young Italy and young Germany – but was inevitably American in its swirling melange of democratic preachment, imperialist bravado, and white supremacy Douglas would sweep away both the European monarchies and the Democratic fogies in a blast of bluster.  The Little Giant was the spread-eagle American.” In his defense of the Kossuth, no one exceeded the rage of chauvinism. Douglas said, “The peculiar position of our country requires that we should have an American policy on foreign relations based upon the principles of our own government, and adapted to the spirit of the age.”   SB 168  Douglas presented himself as the zeitgeist. The little giant stood atop Kossuth like a pedestal. He said that “each state has a right to dispose of her own destiny and regulate her internal affairs in her own way, without the intervention of any foreign power.”  Kossuth’s call for national independence became Douglas’s own doctrine of popular sovereignty as manifest destiny. Allowing the territory to decide itself what would be free or slave, which was his solution for New Mexico in the compromise. Without missing a beat Douglas’s pugnacious demand for Hungarian independence shifted into his siren call for annexation of Cuba, which he had been demanding since 1844 as essential to American destiny as the annexation of Texas. SB 169 the Vermonter who had transformed himself into Western man, “Douglas never thought of himself as a sectional man. His bombastic nationalism encompass the continent. Douglas through his first wife, profited from a large plantation in Mississippi. He himself was North, South, East, and West.” SB 172  SD, then, was a version of the puritan-Cavalier combo albeit amoral. Douglas’s idea of manifest destiny and that of the country were indistinguishable. They must be explained by “the railroad interpretation of American history,” according to the historian Frank H Hodder. “In the development of such an interpretation no fact will prove more striking than the extent to which the repeal of the Missouri Compromise by the Kansas Nebraska Act was controlled by railroad considerations.” Douglas had been a master craftsman of the compromise of 1850 and leveraged it to pass the Illinois Central act. SB 268  Jefferson Davis hated Douglas, whom he called “our little grog drinking, electioneering demagogue.” He said Douglas was “full of heresy” SB 270 but Douglas needed Davis, Atchison, and all the young chivalry of the F St. Mess and president Pierce if he were to realize is railroad and political ambitions. SB 278  Hero of the bhoys: Carl Schurtz said of Douglas’s manner “very strongly smacked of the barroom. He was the idol of the rough element of his party, and his convivial association with that element left its unmistakable imprint upon his habits and his deportment.” SB 307
-George Nicholas Sanders, the Steve Bannon of the era, mysterious, seductive, specialized in political assassination and hyper-nationalism. The Democratic Review, the cradle of Young America, had been close to Douglas since he and its editor John O’Sullivan paid a visit to Pres. Polk at the White House in 1848 saying that his next step after the Mexican War should be to grab Cuba. Sanders bought the journal to have his own mouthpiece to tout young America and Douglas’scandidacy Sanders minced no words: “Age is to be honored, but senility is pitiable.” He called for “a new generation to sweep away the “old politicians” of the Democratic Party.” The old Democrats had “left a wreck, a mutinous wreck,” and the party needed a new hero: “A second Hercules, he comes to cleanse the Augean stable, to hurl out the guilty… Bring young blood, young ideas, and young hearts.” SB 175 He was referring to Stephen Douglas.  Running in 1852 qagainst SD was the old, obese, wheezy Lewis Cass, who was “not strong with the ‘bohoys’” of YA  179.
-Franklin Pierce:  boyish, sprightly, the youngest man ever to hold office as president, well spoken, charming, Pierce “seemed to fill the public ideal in some respects as to what the president of a young nation should be… The personification of young America,” according to Sen. Hannibal Hamlin, a Democrat Pratt from Maine. Pierce seem to have buoyant optimism. SB 226 Pierce appointed as his attorney general Caleb Cushing, scholar, Harvard professor, speaker of many languages, essayist for the North American review, the ultimate Cotton Whig and the ultimate dough-faced Northerner. He was considered unscrupulous, double-gendered, and hermaphroditic. 
--Young America came to be associated with slave expansion: Sept 29 1854 article in the NY Times reprinted a piece from the London Daily News that warned against “the one retrograde institution in America,” as the London paper savagely denounced Pierce for appointing diplomats from the ranks of Young America, which endangered Am’s “natl reputation,” with the headline “Mr. Soule’s ‘Vulgar Turbulence’—George Sanders,” and it denounced the Ostend Manifesto and Sanders’ hairbrained plots, “from semi-barbarous parts of the Slave states, men who think it chivalrous to bully their neighbors, and then put them in peril of their lives, in the name of honor.” In SB 408   AL wld have seen this piece as a stinging rebuke of Young Am and Stephen Douglas.
-Jefferson Davis, Secretary of War of Pierce, suffered from venereal disease that he had contracted years earlier. The debilitating symptoms of herpes simplex 1 struck him periodically for five times a year. Hundreds of small infections and surrounded his left eye, covering it with a cloudlike film, swelling it, preventing from tearing, subjecting it to  extreme agonizing dryness and irritating his optic nerve. His venereal disease intensified his rigidity, humorlessness, and remoteness. Cavalier: He remained the perfect Southern gentleman, more austere than ever in his aristocratic bearing and sense of command. This formal courtesy was a sign of imagined natural superiority. Instinctively he believed in an unyielding caste and class system. As an officer in the Mexican war he looked down on ordinary soldiers. Andrew Johnson of Tennessee, Taylor, said that Davis was “a cheap scrub aristocrat.” Davis lived in Brierfield, his thousand acre plantation on Mrs. where he had 72 slaves by 1840 who labored in the cotton fields, making him one of the wealthiest men in the state. He was a benevolent, absolute, and later absent master. SB 228 to 29   --Jefferson Davis envisaged the southern Empire to include Cuba, the Mexican province of Yucatán, Panama, and more under the US flag is safe territories for slavery, becoming states with two senators apiece, tipping the scales in the balance for the South. “Cuba must be ours” to “increase the numbers of slaveholding constituencies,” he declared. SB 235  He sought to build a transcontinental railroad through a southern route from the Mississippi River to the Pacific that would bind the West to the south – and to slavery. Davis was in every way the agent of his mentor and profit, John C Calhoun. He disliked the compromise of 1850 and was determined to overthrow the compromise of 1820 in 1848, Sen. Davis introduced an amendment that would open the Oregon territory slavery by prohibiting the application of the ordinance of 1787. Under Pierce, he became the virtual acting president. SB 236  to acquire Cuba, as minister to Spain, the crucial spot for the deal, he appointed Sen. Pierre Soule of Louisiana. For minister to England, Pierce sent Buchanan. Nearly all of the diplomatic appointments consisted of members of the young American faction close to Douglas, including the volatile George N Sanders, installed as secretary of the legation at London.Sb 238 Jefferson Davis, the autocrat of the cabinet, increased the size of the standing army about 30% to 13,821 men, appointing West Point graduates as officers of new regiments. He built new facilities at West Point. He drove innovation by developing modern weapons. He retired old-fashioned muskets. He oversaw the publication of a new manual, rifle and light infantry tactics. He hand-picked a promising West Point educated young lieutenant for a mission to assess a Southern Pacific railroad route. George B McClellan proudly considered himself one of secretary Davis’s star protégés. SB 239 when a young relative of Henry Clay, Clement Clairborne Clay, a US senator, a fervent advocate of states rights, came to Washington, Davis was attracted to his wife Virginia and took her as his longtime mistress SB 245.

Railroads made possible the exponential increase in the value of cotton and slaves and strengthened the slave system. Through the new technology slavery became more intrinsic than ever to the unprecedented growth of international capitalism in the 1850s. The South supplied more than three fourths of the cotton for the textile mills of England, which  employed perhaps a quarter of all English workers and was the basis of half of England’s exports. The price of cotton rose continuously over the next decade, making the south the richest section of the country and its aristocracy the wealthiest. “Southern slave-grown cotton was the nation’s leading export,” wrote David Brion Davis. “It powered textile manufacturing revolutions in both New England and Europe.” In the 19th century slave values more than tripled. By 1860, a young prime field hand in New Orleans would sell for the equivalent of an expensive car, say a Mercedes-Benz, today. American slaves represented more capital than any other asset in the nation, with the exception of land. In 1850 the value of Southern slaves was about three times the amount invested in manufacturing or railroads nationwide. SB 120
Proslavery arguments:
	-William D. Mitchell of Oldham County (Ky??) said slavery uplifted white men by keeping them out of labor. He wrote, “Where slavery exists, the white operative, as a class, is unknown,” as WM hailed “the elevating influence of slavery,” which “lifts the white man above the description of labor; it converts him from a mere machine into a man” in SB 27  And slavery is constitutional, for slaves are property: “The right of property is before and higher than any constitutional sanction; and the right of the owner of a slave to his property is the same, and as inviolable as the the right of the owner of any property whatever” in SB 27 slave as property vs higher law!!
-- higher law:
•	William Seward, in his maiden speech to the Senate, rebuked Clay and Webster in his higher law speech. He said “There is a higher law than the Constitution, which regulates our authority over the domain, and devotes it to the same noble purposes.” SB 69 He continued, “The territory is a part, no inconsiderable part, of the common heritage of mankind, bestowed upon them by the creator of the universe.” SB 69 Henry Clay on May 13 rebutted Seward: “A divine law, a natural law! And who are they that venture to tell us what is divine and what is natural law? Where are their credentials of prophecy?… Wild, reckless, and abominable theories, which strike at the foundation of all property, and threaten to crush in ruins the fabric of civilized society.” SB 70
--Douglas’s higher law: Douglas said that God had ordered the death of Zachary Taylor, who threatened to stop the spread of slavery. “It was the hand of Providence the saved us from our first and only military administration,” said Douglas. The Almighty had decided to intervene at just the right moment to reflect the president was deadly cholera and had placed in line of succession the Savior of the Republic, Millard Fillmore. SB 216.
 --Calhoun: the ordinance of 1787 and the Missouri compromise had cordoned slavery, so that the South did not have equal weight the North. Now the North threatened to grab all the territory gained from Mexico for itself, depriving the South “from every foot of it.” SB 63 Calhoun died on March 30 1850. Totally opposite to Lincoln, Calhoun called the proposition in the declaration that “all men are created a equal” the “most dangerous of political errors,”  SB  297.


Centrifugal:
SB writes of “the centrifugal disintegration of the Whigs” that began in 1849 SB 49
-Webster in his  March 7 1850 speech saw that secession equaled a centrifugal explosion: “Secession! Peaceable secession! Sir, your eyes and mine are never destined to see that miracle. The dismemberment of this vast country without convulsion!” “Sir, he who sees these States, now revolving in harmony around a common center, can expect to see them quit their places and fly off without convulsion, may look the next hour to see the heavenly bodies rush from their spheres and jostle against each other in the realms of space without producing a crash of the universe “SB 66.
-Seward in his anti-Compromise speech of July 2 1850 said that the Compromise was a temporary, fragile agreement that would do nothing to quell the south’s desire for a vast “slave empire” that would engulf Cuba, Nicaragua, Guatemala, the Yucatán in Mexico, the whole Caribbean. “The domestic production in  commerce and slaves will supplant the African slave trade, and new slave states will surround the Gulf of Mexico and cover its islands. Those new states, combined with slave states already existing, will constitute a slave empire,” an empire that will “domineer not only over the southern portion of the continent” but the United States as a whole. SB 76. 
-- centrifugal expansion in the 50s: “The allure of a tropical Manifest Destiny magnetically attracted an astonishing cast of freebooters, soldiers of fortune, speculators, bandits, and demagogues, who created extraordinary embarrassments, imbroglios, disasters, and wars.… They was so piratical that it took a truly successful pirate on a monumental scale, Cornelius Vanderbilt, to impose law and order. Even after Vanderbilt deposed Walker, the man who was briefly tin-pot dictator remained celebrated as a folk hero throughout the South. Jefferson Davis declared that he would “rejoice” if Walker would succeed. In 1859 Sen. Jefferson Davis said he “hoped the day was not distant when by the acquisition of tropical territory, the arch would be completed,” and he pointedly called for the acquisition of Cuba as “especially necessary in the event of the formation of the Southern Confederacy.” SB 353

--AL wrote Seward in Feb 1861, in the secession crisis, that any spreading of slavery will put us “on the high-road to a slave empire,” CW 4: 182 and he was right:
--Jefferson Davis envisaged the southern Empire to include Cuba, the Mexican province of Yucatán, Panama, and more under the US flag is safe territories for slavery, becoming states with two senators apiece, tipping the scales in the balance for the South. “Cuba must be ours” to “increase the numbers of slaveholding constituencies,” he declared. SB 235  He sought to build a transcontinental railroad through a southern route from the Mississippi River to the Pacific that would bind the West to the south – and to slavery. Davis was in every way the agent of his mentor and profit, John C Calhoun. He disliked the compromise of 1850 and was determined to overthrow the compromise of 1820 in 1848, Sen. Davis introduced an amendment that would open the Oregon territory slavery by prohibiting the application of the ordinance of 1787. Under Pierce, he became the virtual acting president. SB 236  to acquire Cuba, as minister to Spain, the crucial spot for the deal, he appointed Sen. Pierre Soule of Louisiana. For minister to England, Pierce sent Buchanan. Nearly all of the diplomatic appointments consisted of members of the young American faction close to Douglas, including the volatile George N Sanders, installed as secretary of the legation at London.Sb 238 Jefferson Davis, the autocrat of the cabinet, increased the size of the standing army about 30% to 13,821 men, appointing West Point graduates as officers of new regiments. He built new facilities at West Point. He drove innovation by developing modern weapons. He retired old-fashioned muskets. He oversaw the publication of a new manual, rifle and light infantry tactics. He hand-picked a promising West Point educated young lieutenant for a mission to assess a Southern Pacific railroad route. George B McClellan proudly considered himself one of secretary Davis’s star protégés. SB 239
--William Walker, filibusterer, was president of the short-lived Republican of Sonora. Acquitted for violating the neutrality act in his invasion of Mexico, Walker landed on June 16, 1855, with his 56 self-styled immortals. He captured the Nicaraguan capital of Granada, and made himself commander-in-chief to a figurehead president. On September 22, 1856, Pres. Walker unilaterally repealed all Nicaraguan laws and proclaimed it a slave Republic. Slavery had been abolished in Nicaragua 32 years earlier, but by extending slavery, he saw himself heroically saving the South SB 350
•	Ostend manifesto: conferring at Ostend in the Netherlands in October 1854, James Buchanan, John Y Mason, and Pierre Soule signed a document, hereafter known as the Ostend Manifesto, remarkable for its bombast. According to the manifesto, Cuba was necessary to the US and “belongs naturally to that great family estates.” If Spain reject is selling at $120 million it should seriously endanger our internal peace, and “by every law, human and divine, we shall be justified in wresting it.” SB 349 Higher law!
•	Lincoln said that slavery was expansive, threatening the free states. SB 145 Whitney recalled Lincoln saying, “This thing is spreading like wild fire over the country. In a few years we will be ready to accept the institution in Illinois and the whole country will adopt it.” SB 145  BUT, AL was confronting two centrifugal forces: not just the expansion of slavery but also the destruction of the Constitution and the Union threatened by the Garrisonians, as seen in his denunciation of them in his eulogy of Clay: Lincoln denounced the centrifugal Garrisonians: “Those who would shiver into fragments the Union of the states; tear to tatters its now venerated Constitution; and even burn the last copy of the Bible, rather than slavery should continue a single hour.”
-centrifugal parties in 1854--55: SB writes that AL in 1855 “had been confounded by the centrifugal politics of party disintegration,” and his defeat in the 1855 Senate race, when he gaves his votes to Trumbull to prevent a Dem victory, was “his last gasp as a Whig” and his real birth as a Republican SB 441.  As SB writes 323: “They were more symptoms of disintegration than clarifying coherence. Politics had entered into a fugue state, a strange period of disorienting vertigo, when people suddenly lost the bearings and identities as those stricken with dizzying amnesia, and adopted a succession of new ones. In the chaos there was no center to hold. While the northern wing of the Democratic Party was crumbling, the southern wing of the Whig party deserted.… Both parties had lost their equilibrium… There were assorted anti-Nebraska parties, as they were mostly called, and fusion parties, but there was also an explosion of temperance parties, and even more significantly the emergence of the nativist know nothings. In Hartford Connecticut, twenty-three separate parties were listed on the ballot.” SB 323 Isms!!   It took Whigs nearly two years to realize they were “clinging to splinters” SB 324. After SD with the Kansas Nebraska act  “detonated a political explosion that broke apart the traditional parties, shards of factions move around with uncertain trajectories. Know nothing and temperance movements were as volatile as anti-slavery groups.… The unexpected year of conflict over slavery had actually begun with the abolitionists seeking to abolish drink.” SB 380 While there were calls for fusion, nobody knew its shape. Each group asserted itself as the core of a new political coalition. Some prohibitionists were nativists, some nativists were anti-slavery, and many abolitionists were prohibitionists.… German immigrants, the largest growing swing group in the state, were overwhelmingly antislavery and disaffected with the Democrats but feared the nativists and he did for prohibitionists.… Old Dems mistrusted the old Whigs while third-party Free soilers still mistrusted men from both of the regular parties… Anti-Douglas Democrats despised pro-Douglas Democrats while still loathing the Whigs. In Illinois it was not until August 1, 1854 that a small meeting of antislavery activists first adopted the name “republican,” taking it from the Michigan gathering on July 16, to describe their new, unorganized, and unshaped party. SB 381 The Founding meetings of the Ill Reublican Party wld be in 1856, and AL’s problem was “managing the ramshackle coalition that wld become the Republican Party composed of Old Whigs, Jacksonian Democrats, Free Soilers, abols, border state Unionists, former Hunkers Soft and Hard, Barnburners, former Know nothings, and German immigrants”—AL tried to define the common ground as opposition to slavery extension SB 382. Isms!!  The Know Nothing Party was “ill defined, incoherent, and chaotic” SB 444. 

-Peoria in 1854: discord has been let loose by Kansas Neraska:
In this state of case, the genius of Discord himself, could scarcely have invented a way of again getting [setting?] us by the ears, but by turning back and destroying the peace measures of the past. The councils of that genius seem to have prevailed, the Missouri compromise was repealed; and here we are, in the midst of a new slavery agitation, such, I think, as we have never seen before. CW 2: 270 ….Slavery is founded in the selfishness of man's nature---opposition to it, is [in?] his love of justice. These principles are an eternal antagonism [NOT the Puritan-Cavalier split]; and when brought into collision so fiercely, as slavery extension brings them, shocks, and throes, and convulsions must ceaselessly follow.   2:271.
-- Lincoln said of Douglas & the Kansas Nebraska act, “he took us by surprise – astounded us – by this measure. We were thunderstruck and stunned; and we reeled and fell in utter confusion. But we rose each fighting, grasping whatever he could first reach – a scythe– a pitchfork – a chopping axe, or a butcher’s cleaver. We struck in the direction of the sound; and we are rapidly closing in upon.” SB 369
--AL becomes a centripetal forces against the centrifugal parties beginning in 1854 at Peoria, then solidifying his part stand by having Herndon sign him up wkth the Ill Republican Party in spring 1856,  through the late 1850s:
--party stability: in his Clay eulogy, he said, “The man who is of neither party, is not---cannot be, of any consequence.” CW 2: 126.  And so, AL’s own embrace of the Republican party was his way of restoring order to the surrounding chaos: Herndon said:
--AL drifting until party sign-up makes him centripetal: 
 Finding himself drifting about with the disorganized elements that floated together after the angry politicial waters had subsided, it became apparent to Lincoln that if he expected to figure as a leader he must take a stand himself. Mere hatred of slavery and opposition to the injustice of the Kansas-Ne- braska legislation were not all that were required of him. He must be a Democrat, Know-Nothing, Abolitionist, or Republican, or forever float about in the great political sea without compass, rudder, or sail. At length he declared himself.  Herndon’s Lincoln 382.  Herndon in spring 1856 assembled the friends of freedom in Spfield to sign a document of commitment – AL was away, but Herndon signed him up, And AL was confirmed a s party member.  Crockett acceptance: John Todd Stuart, who wanted to retard AL’s movements, asked Herndon if AL had authorized Herndon to sign up AL, and Herndon said no.  Stuart said “you have ruined him,” but then Herndon wrote AL, who was on the circuit at Tazewell County court, to telegrap[h him his answer.  The message came: “All right; go ahead. Will meet you—radicals and all” SB 472.
[ME: AL takes his stand just as Whitman does: the latter through the confient I of his poetry, AL through identifying himself as a party leader—in both cases, the centripetal counterbalances the ceintrifugal  - in conterast, Melville gives over to the centrifugal in works like Barlteby and esp The Confidence-Man, while NH is heading to the utter artisitc breakdown that he experineces during the war…]


-Douglas - he campaigned for Pierce in 1852 from Virginia to New York, from Pennsylvania to Ohio, declaring that the Caribbean and Gulf of Mexico “our American waters.” SB 264 on January 8, 1853, on the anniversary of the Battle of New Orleans, he delivered a speech dedicating the statue of Andrew Jackson across from the White House. Old Hickory “lives in the spirit of the age,” Douglas said. Less than two weeks later Douglas was in an abyss of anguish, as his wife Martha died in childbirth, and a month afterwards his baby daughter died too. SB 264
Herndon, Parker, and Lincoln:
Theodore Parker’s speech denouncing Daniel Webster’s March 7 speech was probably read by William H. Herndon, and thus may have been known by Lincoln. SB 67
Stowe and Lincoln:
Lincoln met Harriet Beecher Stowe at the White House in late November or early December 2018 62. According to her son Charles, Seward was seated with Lincoln before the roaring fireplace on a cold winter day. Seward introduced Stowe to AL, whose little woman/great war quote was likely apocryphal, but it reflected the  family’s true belief that Lincoln grasped the salient contribution of Uncle Tom’s Cabin. About that there can be little doubt. Herndon bought a copy of the novel  as soon as it was for sale, probably having read the serialization in the National Era; he likely shared with his law partner. At some point, Lincoln purchased his own copy. After his nomination for president in 1860, Frank Fuller, a friend of Robert Todd Lincoln, then a student at Phillips Academy in New Hampshire, visited Lincoln in Springfield. Fuller’s father had been a deacon in Lyman Beecher’s church. “He knew much about all [the members of] the talented Beecher family,” Fuller recalled, “showed me a well worn copy of Harry Beecher Stowe’s Uncle Tom’s Cabin, and some clippings of Henry Ward Beecher’s sermons speeches.”  SB 125 [ Lincoln would appoint for the wartime governor of Utah territory to handle the difficult Mormon issue. SB 125-26

Lincoln and the Declaration:
Sen John Petit of Indiana was the one who called the Declaration a lie: he said that all history and experience proved that the idea of equality between people or races was false. “I cannot, in the first place, believe that Mr. Jefferson ever intended to give the meaning or force which is attempted now to be applied to this language when he said: “we hold these truths to be self-evident, that all men are created equal.” I hold it to be a self-evident lie.” Lincoln would soon seize upon the self-evident lie to explain why he put the self-evident truth at the center of his political philosophy Sb 304 Butler of South Carolina said, “abolitionists cannot make equal whom God has made unequal.” “It would be a mercy to cut their throats sooner than condemn them to your philanthropy,” talking and Negroes. SB 305. And so it was better to kill black people than to liberate them.
Puritan and Cavalier:
-Cavalier, perhaps, but AL hated the Southern Cavalier’s pride in owning slaves: Gillespie reported that Lincoln said that if you were in Kentucky and “had a dark he trudging at your  heels everybody would see him and know that you owned slaves – It is the most glittering ostentatious and displaying property in the world… The love for slave property was swallowing up every other mercenary passion. Its ownership betokened not only the possession of wealth but indicated the gentleman of leisure who was above and scorned labor. These things Mr. Lincoln regarded as highly seductive to the thoughtless and giddy headed young men who looked upon work as vulgar and ungentlemanly.… That slavery was a great and crying injustice, and an enormous national crime and that we could not expect to escape punishment for it.” SB 146 
--Young Chivalry (or, members of the F Street mess) was the name of Calhounites in Congress from about 1839 onward, and they included Ropbert M T Hunter and James A Seddon (of Va) and James Mason.  - House of Representatives in 1839, Hunter became the leading member of Virginia's Young Chivalry, the Democrats' Calhounite wing, during the 1840s. In 1847, Hunter and another Calhoun supporter, James Murray Mason,  and Henry Wise.
--Jefferson Davis:  Cavalier: He remained the perfect Southern gentleman, more austere than ever in his aristocratic bearing and sense of command. This formal courtesy was a sign of imagined natural superiority. Instinctively he believed in an unyielding caste and class system. As an officer in the Mexican war he looked down on ordinary soldiers. Andrew Johnson of Tennessee, Taylor, said that Davis was “a cheap scrub aristocrat.” Davis lived in Brierfield, his thousand acre plantation on Mrs. where he had 72 slaves by 1840 who labored in the cotton fields, making him one of the wealthiest men in the state. He was a benevolent, absolute, and later absent master. SB 228 to 29 Davis had the imperious attitude of a southern aristocrat of inherited wealth, and he believed that the essence of honor was to protect his superior caste position. His outbursts of invective rose according to the prescribed levels of the code duello SB 240 Davis had provoked for nearly duels over the past six years, as well as boardinghouse fistfight with Foote. SB 241 
•	Robert MT Hunter of Virginia, chairman of the finance committee under Franklin Pierce, was apt to flare up fiercely when slavery was attacked and assume the haughty air of the representative of a higher class, and, in fluent and high-sounding phrase, to make the northern man feel the superiority of the Cavalier over the Roundhead. SB 249
James Murray Mason, author of the fugitive slave act, was an aristocratic Southerner – there was no more aristocratic Southerner in Congress. He was a direct descendent of George Mason, a Cavalier captain in King Charles I Army and a member of the House of Commons who fled England when Oliver Cromwell’s Republican forces defeated the royalists and Charles was executed. In Virginia he establish one of the largest plantations on the banks of the Potomac, bequeathed to generations of masons. George Mason IV  was the author of Virginia’s declaration of rights in May 1776, the template for the Declaration of Independence and the Bill of Rights. He did not emancipate slaves in his will, unlike his neighbor George Washington. His grandson, James, had no ambivalence about slavery. “No senator had a greater reverence for the peculiar institutions of the South, or a more thorough contempt for abolitionists the North” recalled the journalist Benjamin Perley Poore. He expected others to “bow to his assumed aristocracy and all its claims.” SB 252 51
Louis Kossuth:
•	leader of the failed Hungarian revolution, symbol of all the suppressed uprisings of 1848, the short-lived Springtime of Nations, sailed into New York Harbor to a 21 gun salute in 1852, greeted the next day by a crowd of 100,000, a quarter of the city’s population. Handsome, elegant, with trimmed beard and feathered hat, he had surprisingly fluent, formal English. He was the toast of the town. He was a fantasy figure for Americans to project an image about themselves. He mistook the scale of his tumultuous greeting to be about his own glorious cause. SB 155 Despite his noble bearing and perfect English, he was a greenhorn who chld not win American intervention into Europe’s affairs. He wore a military uniform and longsword that rattled on the ground as he walked. Southerners were suspicious of his rhetoric about freedom and revolution phrase is a not so veiled attack on slavery. He alarmed conservatives. He quickly grasped that he should avoid discussing slavery. “Every speech he makes is the best kind of abolition speech,” said the newly elected antislavery senator  from Ohio Benjamin Wade. He returned to Europe and descended into threadbare poverty. The Kossuth episode was undoubtedly central in Lincolns broadening international outlook, which was organically connected to his development in politics. He neither spoke more red any language other than English and never traveled abroad, but he knew of the rise and fall of the revolutions of 1848. He saw them as democratic movements based on principles similar to those of the Declaration of Independence and suppressed by a constellation of despotic monarchical powers. In 1852 he wrote the Springfield “Resolutions in  behalf of Hungarian Freedom” and two years later in a speech at Peoria on October 16, 1854 he said about slavery, “I hate it because it deprives our republican example of its just influence in the world – enables the enemies of free institutions, with plausibility, to taunt us as hypocrites” SB 164. During the 1850s, Lincoln befriended many German revolutionaries who would become instrumental in the formation of the Republican Party and is in indispensable allies. But in early 1852 most Germans favored the Democratic Party. Kossuth, after his American tour, settled into exile in London SB 162-64. 
Lincoln:
-family life, moods, medicine: PB: When he was at home, Lincoln was often remote and distracted, indulgent with the boys, allowing them to run riot in his office to the consternation of Herndon, but he did not pitch in much to help at home and was the subject to the ups and downs of his legendary depression. Just as he had to cope with Mary’s fits, she had to cope with his. “He was a sad looking man; his melancholy dripped from him as he walked,” wrote Herndon. “The perpetual look of sadness was a matter of frequent discussion among his friends.” PB 132 John Todd Stuart thought the cause was constipation. His diet on the road was wretched. It consisted mainly of greasy meat gravy and cabbage: “table greasy – table cloth greasy – floor greasy, and everything else ditto,” according to his friend Judge David Davis, describing an inn where they dined together. A decade earlier when he suffered his nervous breakdown, Dr. Anson Henry had prescribed blue mass pills, a mixture made of mercury, licorice, and honey considered a panacea for nearly every illness. On Stuart’s advice, Lincoln resumed taking them and kept pill popping until five months into his presidency, when, as he told Stuart, he “ceased using them because they made him cross.” According to a 2001 study, the supposed medication was highly toxic, exceeding the environmental protection agency safety standard for mercury by a factor of 9,000.  Mercury poisoning, one researcher concluded, “certainly could explain Lincolns non-neurological symptoms: insomnia, tremor, and the rage attacks.” PB 132
--death of Lincoln’s father:  just after Mary gave birth to Willy, Lincoln received word from Coles County that his father, Thomas, was dying. He had responded to a similar alarm two years before only to discover his father failing to expire. He declined to make another trip. “My business is such that I could hardly leave home now,” he wrote his stepbrother John D Johnston. His coldness masked his irritation. Three years earlier the ne’er-do -well Johnston had asked Lincoln to loan him $80, for which he chided him for borrowing money from him in the past without repayment. “You’re not lazy, and still you are an idler,” Lincoln wrote. “I doubt whether since I saw you, you have done a good whole day’s work in any one day.” He proposed matching every dollar Johnston earned with the dollar lent, but his stepbrother did not take up the offer, proving Lincoln’s point. In response to this latest news about his father he sent an impersonal, cruel, and falsely sentimental note about how the “Maker” remembers “the fall of the sparrow” and “will not forget the dying man.” As for putting in a last appearance before his father, “Say to him that if we could meet now, it is doubtful whether it would not be more painful than pleasant,” adding that Thomas should prepare for heaven, which Lincoln did not believe existed, where “he will soon have a joyous [meeting] with many loved ones gone before.” Lincoln did not attend the funeral or ever provided a gravestone. He bickered with his stepbrother over providing for his stepmother and later learned that Johnston stole the regular money he sent. Mary never had any use for Lincoln’s family, though she once sent his stepmother a little note. She never visited, invited them, or arranged for them to see their son’s children. PB 133 Herndon, who was banished from the Lincoln house as a rough and radical character of her lower-class, recalled, “You wish to know if Mrs. Lincoln and the Todd aristocratic family did not scorn and detest the Hanks and the Lincoln family; and an answer to which I yell yes. Mrs. Lincoln held the Hanks tribe [Lincoln’s mother’s relatives] in contempt and the family generally, the old folks, Thomas Lincoln and his good old wife. Mrs. Lincoln was terribly aristocratic and as haughty and as imperious as she was aristocratic; she was as cold as a chunk of ice. Thomas and his good old wife were never in this city, and I do not suppose that they were ever invited to visit Lincoln’s house. Had they appeared, I doubt whether Mrs. Lincoln would’ve admitted them.” Almost certainly, Lincoln’s refusal to see his dying father met with Mary’s approval. SB 134
-Lincoln the lawyer: every spring and fall Lincoln travel through the pair of prairies on his buckboard wagon pulled by his horse old town across the eight judicial circuit, covering an expanse of central Illinois larger than Massachusetts, Connecticut, and Rhode Island combined. Old comms successors as Lincolns made mode of transportation included an old Bob. The atmosphere of the circuit was festive. The presiding judge of the eighth circuit was David Davis, so massive it was said a surveyor was required to measure his suit. He was well educated with degrees from Kenyon College and Yale, the leading week politician of his town of Bloomington. He was such a shrewd real estate investor that when he died in 1886 he was the largest landholder in Illinois. As the judge, he was efficient, authoritative, congenial. He was also the impresario of the lawyers at night – most entertainer head of the social organization the circuit. Convivial, he loved the attention. His room was the site of storytelling, a talent at which Lincoln “was never exceeded.” When Davis excused himself from his did judicial duty to engage in real estate transaction, he would frequently install Lincoln is the judge. He recalled, “in my opinion, I think Lincoln was happy – as happy as he could be one on the circuit – and happy no other place. This was his place of enjoyment.” SB 126 – 127. Usually lawyers went home on Saturday night day nights, but Lincoln often did not do so, as Davis said, “it seemed to me that L was not domestically happy.” But also, as PB notes, the distance made it difficult for Lincoln to return to Springfield, and the wealthy Davis may not have fully appreciated that however happy Lincoln might be on the road he was only there because it was how he gained his income. PB 137 Some lawyers on the circuit became the core of Lincoln’s men, his team of loyalists: Henry Clay Whitney, Leonard Sweet, and Ward Hill Lamon, among others, knew his virtues and flaws as a lawyer. PB 140
-lawyer style: Lincoln’s manner was informal, sometimes conferring with the client beneath a tree near the courthouse, rarely taking notes before appearing in court. His method was always to persuade by fact and logic accessible to the common juror. He was, wrote Whitney, intensely logical and inclined to make everything accord with an undeviating rule, yet he was likewise eminently practical, and was always sedulous to achieve results in the simplest way.” A client, John W Bunn said, “It seemed as if every proposition submitted to his mind was subjected to the regular process of the syllogism, with its major proposition and its minor proposition and its conclusion. Whatever cannot stand the test of sound reasoning, he rejected.” PB 132 he also used humor, anecdotes, and, as Davis said, “He had no managing faculty nor organizing power; hence a child could conform to the simple and technical rules, the means and the modes of getting injustice better than he. The law has its own rules, and a student could get at them and keep with them better than Lincoln.” PB 137-38 [ME: personal higher law!]  PB says, “Lincoln’s arguments were not built upon citation of precedent or the authority of legal rules but an appeal to reason.” PB 138. In his first autobiography, Lincoln wrote, “education defective. Profession, a liar.” In another self-description, he confessed, “the little advance I now have upon the store of education, I picked up from time to time under the pressure of necessity.” Herndon wrote that after he came home from Congress and return to the law, “he had begun to realize a certain lack of discipline – a want of mental training and method.… The courts were becoming graver and more learned, and the lawyer was learning a preliminary and indispensable condition to success that he must be a close reasoner.” PB 138. [ME: yes, but also in touch with sentimental and Rev leg and sensational culture!!] 
-studies Euclid on law circuit; reason, logic, demonstration:  Davis said, “Studied Euclid – the Exact Sciences. His mind struggled to arrive at moral and physical – mathematical demonstration.” SB 139  Euclid was considered an essential source of Enlightenment thought, offering self-evident proof of natural right, studied by Jefferson and highly recommended by Paine. In his Age of Reason, the book Lincoln early absorbed, Paine wrote, “I know, however, of but of one ancient book that authoritatively challenges universal consent and belief, and that is Euclid’s ‘Elements of Geometry,’ and the reason is, because it is a book of self-evident demonstration, entirely independent of its author, and of everything relating to time, place, and circumstance.” “In the course of my law reading, I constantly came upon the word demonstrate,” Lincoln told an interviewer in 1860.SB 139. Lincoln wondered, “How does demonstration differ from any of the proof?” He consulted Webster’s dictionary. That told of “proof beyond the possibility of a doubt.” And at last Lincoln said, “Lincoln, you can never make a lawyer if you do not understand what demonstrate means.” SB 139. Then he studied “till I could give any proposition in the six books of Euclid at sight. I then found out what “demonstrate” means, and went back to my law studies.” “He studied and nearly mastered the six books of Euclid, since he was a member of Congress,” he wrote in his autobiography for Scripps. “He regrets his want of education, and does what he can to supply the want.” SB 139. 
--Euclid as source of AL’s antislavery politics: SB writes, “The gradual effect of Euclid on his thinking, first apparent in summations in county court rooms, at last flourished full-blown in his speech against Douglas’s Kansas-Nebraska Act at Peoria on October 16, 1854, which consisted of a series of ironclad logical proofs on the geometry of slavery and against its extension.” SB 140.
 Lincoln was what was called a “volume lawyer.” His fees generally range from $5 to $50. He handled virtually every type of case – divorce, slander, libel, and a murder case in 1857 in which he deployed the almanac to gain acquittal of his client the son of his old Clary’s Grove boys friend Jack Armstrong, who had just died – an incident famously depicted by Henry Fonda in the 1939 film young Mr. Lincoln. But only about 15% of Lincoln’s cases were criminal, the overwhelming number civil. Nearly 2/3 involved debt collection, with Lincoln swooping in as the “repo man,” according to the historian Alan Guelzo. He represented banks, insurance companies and manufacturers. Most of his corporate practice involved railroads, but he represented railroads and those suing railroads almost equally. He began his work for the Illinois Central in 1853, mostly engaged in damage suits. In 1857 he  handled a major case, saving the Illinois Central from potential bankruptcy by winning a ruling that counties could not levy taxes on the railroad. When he filed his fee of five $5000, the railroad superintendent refused to pay it. Encouraged by his lawyer friends, Lincoln sued and won. Dividing it between himself and Herndon, he told Billy, “This is Corporation money!” PB 135 The executive who received refused to pay Lincoln, regarding Ms. to lowly to receive a princely sum, was a former West Point officer, George B McClellan. Mack described himself as “a strong Democrat of the Stephen A Douglas school.” McClellan’s first impression of Lincoln remained fixed as “not a man of very strong character, & as he was destitute of refinement – certainly in no sense a gentleman – he was easily wrought upon by the course Associates new style of conversation agreed so well with his own.” McClellan had condescension toward the ordinary people he met in Illinois. “The good people of the interior of the state are rather primitive in their appearance and habits,” he wrote to his wife McClellan’s refusal to pay Lincoln his fee was the first of their frictions, the beginning of the history that would encompass his deployment of railroad resources on Douglas’s behalf in the Lincoln Douglas Douglas Cena campaign of 1858; disagreement over military strategy that culminated in general upon submitting his political agenda against emancipation as an ultimatum to Pres. Lincoln; and his candidacy against Lincoln in 1864. PB 136
-Blondin begins in 1849, when Lincoln’s public and private statements reflected a moderate politician with radical thoughts. SB
--Ambition:  in 1850 Herndon recalled traveling with Lincoln to Petersburg when he anxiously said that he would leave no mark in the world and simply be forgotten. “The political world was dead: the compromises of 1850 seem to settle the Negroes faith,” her Herndon said. Lincoln speculated about “the deadness of things, and the despair which arose out of it,.” Lincoln said gloomily, sadly, “How hard, oh! How hard it is to die and leave one’s country no better than if one had never lived for it!” SB 147
-Black subjectivity: Lincoln probably wrote an article in the Illinois Journal about a slave in the US capital who shook his chains, and pointing to the gorgeous flag of freedom which flaunted over it, saying – Hail Colombia! Hail happy land! Hail ye heroes! Heaven-born land!” SB 144  Dennis Hanks told Herndon that as he and Lincoln worked in the fields, splitting rails, Lincoln would see a particular song, over and over, to make fun of their condition as workers: “Hail Colombia! Happy land!” Lincoln sang. If you ain’t broke, I will be damned!” SB 144
In 1856 Lincoln recalled that he became acquainted with Douglas 22 years ago. “We were both young men; he had a trifle younger than I. Even then, we were both ambitious; I, perhaps, quite as much so as he. With me, the race of ambition has been a failure – a flat failure; with him it is been one of splendid success… I affect no contempt for the high eminence he is reached. So reached, that the oppressed of my species, might have  shared with me in the elevation. I would rather stand on that eminence, than wear the richest crown that ever pressed the monarch’s brow.” Lincoln’s self-identification with slaves in this note was not the first time that he linked himself. It was written just months after you publicly proclaim to a crowd, referencing the years of his youth when his father contracted him out to work for others and collected the wages himself: “I used to be a slave.” SB 147  SB suggests that Lincoln thought of himself as a free man who transformed a slave to his father. He saw the extension of slavery as southern imperialism that would reverse the process of freedom for the entire nation. Those seeking to impose slavery, he suggested she try for themselves. SB 375.

--
-jealous of Douglas: in 1856 Lincoln recalled that he became acquainted with Douglas 22 years ago. “We were both young men; he had a trifle younger than I. Even then, we were both ambitious; I, perhaps, quite as much so as he. With me, the race of ambition has been a failure – a flat failure; with him it is been one of splendid success… I affect no contempt for the high eminence he is reached. So reached, that the oppressed of my species, might have  shared with me in the elevation. I would rather stand on that eminence, than wear the richest crown that ever pressed the monarch’s brow.” Lincoln’s self-identification with slaves in this note was not the first time that he linked himself. It was written just months after you publicly proclaim to a crowd, referencing the years of his youth when his father contracted him out to work for others and collected the wages himself: “I used to be a slave.” SB 147 Lincoln said, “Time was when I was in his way some, but he has outgrown me and [be]strides the world; and such small men as I am, can hardly be considered worthy of his notice; and I may have to dodge and get between his legs.”  SB 218 Lincoln’s self-deprecating humor about their respective heights and statures had an envious edge. When he smoked spoke in 1852 at a meeting of the Springfield Scott club on August 14 and August 26 he referred to Douglas 81 times, far more than to Scott or Pierce. His real subject was Douglas. SB 218   Sensational GL! still in this speech!! Still not mature his oratorical style, Lincoln resorted to subversive humor to mock Pierce’s military record: “Among the rules and regulations, no man is to wear more than five pounds of cod-fish for epaulets, no more than thirty yards of bologna sausages for a sash; and no two men are to dress alike, and if any two should dress alike the one that dresses too much alike is to be fined, (I forget how much)” SB 218 – more sensat! He said, “it is amusing to observe what a “Raw Head and Bloody Bones” Seward is to universal Locofocoism” – referring to the crossbones symbol of piracy… “His supposed proclamation of a “higher law” is the only specific charge I’ve seen for a long time. I never read the speech in which the proclamation is made; so that I cannot by its connection, judge of its import and purpose; and I therefore have only to say of it now, that in so far as it may attempt to foment a disobedience to the Constitution, or to the constitutional laws of the country, it has my unqualified condemnation.” SB 219  AL then invokes the sensational adventure nolvelist Frederick Marryat to make a racist slur on Pierce, the proslavery man AL is trying to present as a negro-loving abolitionist: “Why Pierce is .. a cross between old hunkerism, and freesoilism, the latter predominating in the offspring, Marryat, in someone of his books, describes the sailors, weighing anchor, and seeing:

‘Sally is a bright Mullatter,
Oh Sally Brown –
Pretty gal, but can’t get at her,
Oh, Sally Brown.’” SB  220
Lincoln adds, “Now, should Pierce ever be president, he will, politically speaking, not only be a mulatto; but he will be a good deal darker one than Sally Brown.” His use of Sally Brown as a political trope was unoriginal for it had appeared in an article by George Sanders in the April issue of the Democratic review, which ridiculed the “old fogies” for pretentious claims to exalted genealogies – “whole shrubberies of parentage down on paper… by Sally Brown, and discourse on his blood and pedigree.” It was very possible that Lincoln had read Sanders’s numerous pieces intended to promote Lincoln’s rival. Lincoln’s Scott speech was an amusing performance of frontier humor and partisan polemics in the style of the slasher that he had used at the beginning of his political career. It was as if 20 years had passed and he was unchanged. He argued for no principles, upheld no cause, and offered no serious discussion of any issue. This callow speech reflected the strained attempt of a loyal Whig to defend his divided party post–Compromise, reduced to calling his proslavery opponent a secret abolitionists. It was the last speech of its kind he would ever give on behalf of the party that would never again field a presidential candidate. SB 221
--for the people, of the people:  Kossuth said during his Am tour “The spirit of our age is Democracy. All for the people and all by the people. Nothing about the people, without the people. That is Democracy, and that is the ruling tendency of the spirit of our age.” SB 161  He echoed the Italian revolutionary Giuseppe Mazzini who in 1833 called for revolution “in the name of the people, for the people, and by the people” – a speech that would have been engraved on his mind – and that also echoed Daniel Webster’s ringing peroration in his second reply to Hayne of 1830, his renowned argument for Unionism against state rights, the speech that Abraham Lincoln had long ago committed to memory (SB 161 ), the speech in which Webster called for the federal government “made for the people, made by the people, and answerable to the people” SB 187. 
-Henry Clay eulogy: this was Lincoln’s first public political speech since his term in Congress. He located Clay’s basic motive as his identification with “the oppressed.” “Mr. Clay’s predominant sentiment from first to last, was a deep devotion to the cause of human liberty – a strong sympathy with the oppressed everywhere, and an ardent wish for their elevation. With him, this was a primary and all control and passion… He loved his country partly because it was his his own country, but mostly because it was a free country.”. Lincoln reviewed the history of the Northwest ordinance, and said that although Clay owned slaves, if they escaped, he never sought their capture. Colonization had been recommended by Clay but also by many others, including Blacks. Lincoln denounced the centrifugal Garrisonians: “Those who would shiver into fragments the Union of the states; tear to tatters its now venerated Constitution; and even burn the last copy of the Bible, rather than slavery should continue a single hour.” Without naming Rev. Alexander Campbell, the leader of the church Christ, he quoted Campbell’s denunciation of the declaration of independence as having come from “St. Voltaire,… baptized by Thomas Jefferson.” Lincoln denounced such attacks on the declaration. He also began his assault on proslavery theology, such as a minister who said, “If the Scriptures do not justify slavery, I know not what they do justify.” SB 207 Or another preacher who said “The slave is to show his reverence for God – the freedom of his inward man – in cheerful obedience to the lawful commands of his master.” Or yet another who said, “If slavery is in itself a sinful thing in the Bible is a sinful book.” SB 208 Lincoln had written his book on infidelity and had avidly read Thomas Paine, Volney, and other freethinkers. But he saw the value of religion, and had been attacked as an infidel. Yet he never joined the church, and whatever religion he had was his own. He would note in the second inaugural that both sides prayed to the same God and read the same Bible. In his eulogy to Clay, Clay – the lover of wine, women, and song – became a moral model. A truly national man who basically valued freedom.
Temperance:
SD: . His consumption of whiskey morning, noon, and late-night only enhanced his standing as one of the most convivial members. Temp!  
Pierce: ,” he “turned to brandy for solace and Jefferson Davis for guidance” SB 3. Temp! And intemperate temperance reformer, Pierce “was an alcoholic, who repeatedly broke his vows of temperance to his unforgiving wife.” SB 181
Webster: his alcoholism doubtless int3ensified his vindictive tendencies SB 108 he lashed out against opponents to the compromise of 1850 as traitors, and Horace Mann said that his health is very much in her “and that glorious physique, which should be in full figure at the age of 80, is now nearly broken down. He can do nothing but under the inspiration of brandy.” SB 188. One Webster gave his last speech in Boston’s Faneuil Hall, many present believed that he was “very drunk.” SB 189
Richard Yates – AL was “warm personal friends” with him since New Salem:
Yates’ problems with alcohol through this period were well known. When he was scheduled to appear before the legislature a decade later to give his gubernatorial inaugural address, he could not be found. When he did arrive, according to journalist Henry Villard, “He was too drunk to stand or to read. He fell back into his chair, and the Clerk of the House read the message in his place.”6 The problem was already evident in 1854. Mr. Lincoln wrote Yates’ friend Richard J. Oglesby on September 8:
You perhaps known how anxious I am for Yates’ re-election in this District. I understand his enemies are getting up a charge against him, that while he passes for a temperate man, he is in the habit of drinking secretly–and that they calculate on proving an instance of the charge by you. If, indeed, you have told them in the Illinois Journal appeared in an article, probably by Lincoln, describing the slave pens of Washington DC, and inhabiting black subjectivity by betraying any thing, I can not help thinking they have misunderstood what you did tell them. Other things being equal, I would much prefer a temperate man, to an intemperate one; still I do not make my vote depend absolutely upon the question of whether a candidate does or does not taste liquor.
Thousands and thousands of us, in point of fact, have known Yates for more than twenty years; and as I have never seen him drink liquor, nor act, or speak, as if he had been drinking, nor smelled it on his breath, nor heard any man say he ever had and as he has been twice elected to congress without any such thing being discovered I can not but think such a charge as the above must be incorrect. Will you please write me, and tell me what the truth of this matter is? I will reciprocate at any time.7


Like today:
“Department clerks were immediately ordered to draw up lists of candidates for judgeships based on their loyalty to the Fillmore ministration. Congressman and Senators could influence the selections only if they voted for the compromise.” SB 98
-northern versions of sanctuary cities, as when T Parkersaid “we will never let a fugitive slave be carried back from Boston” SB 109 Parker hid William and Ellen Craft and secreted them on a ship to England.  Abolitionists rescued Frederick Minkins, “Shadrach,” who had escaped from Virginia and was about to be remanded to his master when whites and free Blacks rushed into the courthouse, freed him, and carried them away. In four days he was in Canada. Webster and Clay were furious. They called for a strict application of the fugitive slave act.
-SD’s nationalism: Douglas said, “The peculiar position of our country requires that we should have an American policy on foreign relations based upon the principles of our own government, and adapted to the spirit of the age.”   SB 168  
George Nicholas Sanders, the Steve Bannon of the era, mysterious, seductive, specialized in political assassination and hyper-nationalism. The Democratic Review, the cradle of Young America, had been close to Douglas since he and its editor John O’Sullivan paid a visit to Pres. Polk at the White House in 1848 saying that his next step after the Mexican War should be to grab Cuba. Sanders bought the journal to have his own mouthpiece to tout young America and Douglas’scandidacy Sanders minced no words: “Age is to be honored, but senility is pitiable.” He called for “a new generation to sweep away the “old politicians” of the Democratic Party.” The old Democrats had “left a wreck, a mutinous wreck,” and the party needed a new hero: “A second Hercules, he comes to cleanse the Augean stable, to hurl out the guilty… Bring young blood, young ideas, and young hearts.” SB 175 He was referring to Stephen Douglas.

•	Proslavery argument: the book that had the greatest impact on Lincoln’s thinking in 1854 was an impassioned tract against everything he believed: George Fitzhugh’s Sociology for  the South, or the Failure of a Free Society, published in 1854 “defended and justified slavery in every conceivable way,” recalled Herndon, and it “aroused the ire of Lincoln more than most pro-slavery books “” Cavalier: Fitzhugh was descended from one of the first families of Virginia and had become at declassed aristocrat after his ancestral land was almost all sold off. SB 373 in his book, Fitzhugh not only defended slavery, but also confronted charges and counter charges over slavery. Fitzhugh, we deny that there is a society of free countries.” He dismissed John Locke’s idea of individual rights as a “heresy,” “mischief,” and argued that Locke’s idea of individual rights was “heresy” SB 374.

TO READ: Leonard W Bacon’s Slavery Discussed in Occasional Essays from 1833 to 1846. Bacon was the pastor of the first Congregational state of New Haven Connecticut and an original member of the American antislavery Society. He founded a newspaper, the independent, devoted to opposition to the extension of slavery. Lincoln read his book sometime early in 1854 as he studied in the wake of Douglas’s Nebraska act. Bacon’s work was part theology, part politics, and holy antislavery, revealing the inner factual politics of clergyman in the movement.” SB 377
